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Extracts from Samuel Lewis’ Topographical Dictionary 1837 

CLONMEL, a borough, market and assize town, and a parish, partly in the barony of UPPERTHIRD, 
county of WATERFORD, but chiefly in that of IFFA and OFFA EAST, county of TIPPERARY, and 
province of MUNSTER, 23 miles (W. by N.) from Waterford, and 82 1/2 miles (S. W. by S.) from Dublin; 
containing 20,035 inhabitants, of which number, 17,838 are in the town. It is situated on the banks of the 
river Suir, in a beautiful and fertile valley bounded by picturesque mountains, and on one of the two main 
roads from Dublin to Cork, and that from Waterford to Limerick. With the exception of that portion which 
is built on islands in the river, it is wholly on the northern or Tipperary side of the Suir, and is connected 
with the Waterford portion by three bridges of stone. The principal street is spacious, and extends from east 
to west, under different names, for more than a mile in a direction nearly parallel with the river; the total 
number of houses, in 1831, was 1532. The town is lighted with gas from works erected, in 1824, by Messrs. 
Barton and Robinson, of London, who sold them, before they were completed, for about £8000 to the 
British Gas-Light Company of London, under whom they are now held on lease. The provisions of the act 
of the 9th of George IV., for lighting and watching towns in Ireland, have been adopted here: the inhabitants 



are amply supplied with water by public pumps in the various streets. Several newspapers are published, and 
there are four news-rooms, one of which is a handsome building lately erected at the eastern end of the 
town, and called the County Club House. At the eastern entrance into the town are extensive barracks for 
artillery, cavalry, and infantry; behind them, on an elevated and healthy spot, is a small military hospital, 
capable of receiving 40 patients.  The parish extends beyond the Suir a considerable distance into the county 
of Waterford, and comprises 8907 statute acres, of which 5922 are applotted under the tithe act. The 
principal seats are Knocklofty, that of the Earl of Donoughmore; Kilmanahan Castle, of Lieut.-Col. Nuttall 
Greene; Marlfield, of J. Bagwell, Esq.; Barn, of S. Moore, Esq.; Woodrooff, of W. Perry, Esq.; Rathronan, 
of Major-Gen. Sir H. Gough, K.C.B.; Kiltinane Castle, of R. Cooke,Esq.; Darling Hill, of the Hon. Baron 
Pennefather; and Newtown-Anner, of Lady Osborne: there are also many other handsome residences. The 
views from the demesnes of Knock-lofty and Kilmanahan Castle abound with interest and variety, and are 
not surpassed by any in this part of the country. At Kiltinane Castle a very rapid stream issuing from a rock 
forms a remarkable natural curiosity. The living is an entire rectory, in the diocese of Lismore, and in the 
gift of the Corporation: the tithes amount to £300. The glebe-house was built by aid of a gift of £100 and a 
loan of £650 from the late Board of First Fruits, in 1810; the glebe, dispersed in small parcels in the town 
and suburbs, comprises 2a. 1r. 2p. The church, dedicated to St. Mary, is an ancient structure, with a 
handsome octangular embattled tower, 84 feet high, at the eastern extremity of the south side; it was 
formerly a good specimen of the early English style of architecture, but on its repair, in 1805, it was 
modernised and retains but little of its original character; a grant of £1019.12. was made by the 
Ecclesiastical Commissioners for its repair. In the chancel is a beautiful monument, by Taylor of York, to 
the memory of Mary, wife of J. Bagwell, Esq., and recording also the death of that gentleman and his eldest 
son, the late Rt. Hon. Wm. Bagwell, uncle of the present proprietor of Marlfield. There is also a monument 
erected by the parishioners, in the year 1795, as a tribute of respect to the memory of Dr. J. Moore, who was 
rector of this parish for 66 years. In the porch are slabs with inscriptions and armorial bearings of the noble 
family of Hutchinson, Lord Donoughmore, and in one of the shields are impaled the arms of Moore, of 
Barn. The R. C. parish is co-extensive with that of the Established Church, and is the benefice of the vicar-
general of the united dioceses of Waterford and Lismore, and contains two chapels, one in Irishtown, and 
the other a large and neat modern building in Johnston-street; also a Franciscan friary in Warren-street, 
lately rebuilt, and a Presentation convent situated beyond the western bridge. There are places of worship 
for Presbyterians in connection with the Synod of Munster, the Society of Friends, Baptists, Unitarians, and 
Primitive and Wesleyan Methodists. The grammar school was founded in 1685, by R. and S. Moore, Esqrs., 
ancestors of the Mount-Cashel family, who endowed it with the lands of Lissenure and Clonbough, in the 
county of Tipperary, producing a rental of £369, for the gratuitous instruction of the sons of freemen in 
Latin. The old school-house having fallen into decay, a large and substantial building has been erected 
within the last few years at the western extremity of the town, on a site granted at a nominal rent by the late 
Col. Bagwell, and at an expense of nearly £5000, of which £4000 was advanced out of the consolidated 
fund, for the repayment of which £240 per annum is appropriated from the proceeds of the endowment: 
there are at present, including boarders, about 90 boys in the school. A parochial school for boys is partly 
supported by a joint bequest from Dr. Ladyman and Mrs. Pomeroy, amounting to £7 per annum, late 
currency, and £2 per annum from the rector; and there are a parochial school for girls and an infants' school, 
both supported by voluntary contributions: a handsome and commodious building has been lately erected 
for these schools, containing three school-rooms, each capable of accommodating 100 scholars. Two 
schools for girls are superintended by two ladies, who teach the children gratuitously; a school for boys is 
supported by collections at the R. C. chapels, which are partly appropriated in paying the master's salary, 
and partly in providing clothing for the children; and there are Sunday schools in connection with the 
Established Church and the Presbyterian and Methodists' congregations. The number of children in 
attendance daily is, on an average, 580; and in the private pay schools are about 650 children. 

TULLAGH, a parish, in the Eastern Division of the barony of WEST CARBERY, county of CORK, and 
province of MUNSTER, 6 1/4 miles (S. by W.) from Skibbereen, on the southern coast; containing 3422 
inhabitants. This parish, which includes the island of Sherkin or Innisherkin, and the village and sea-port of 
Baltimore, is situated on the harbour of Baltimore, and comprises 5796 statute acres, as applotted under the 
tithe act, and valued at £3174 per annum. The surface is hilly and in some places rises to a considerable 
elevation; the principal eminence is Ballylinch, 649 feet above the level of the sea. The greater portion of 
the parish is rocky, in some places quite bare, but in others affording good pasture: about one-half of the 
land is under cultivation, and as it consists chiefly of small patches among the rocks, spade husbandry is 
necessarily adopted, and the manure is conveyed on horseback. Good freestone is found near the shores of 
the inner bay, and slate exists in several places. The principal seats are Baltimore Castle, the residence of 



Mrs. Freake; Lough-Hyne, of Jas. O'Brien, Esq.: Baltimore House, of Jno. Collins, Esq.; the Cottage, of 
Thos. Baldwin, Esq.; and the glebe-house, of the Rev. J. R. Smyth. The living is a rectory and vicarage, in 
the diocese of Ross, and in the patronage of the Bishop: the tithes amount to £300. The glebe-house was 
built about 1818, when £100 was given and £825 lent by the late Board of First Fruits; the glebe comprises 
10a. 1r. 3p. The church, towards the erection of which the late Board also granted a loan of £600 in 1818, is 
in the village of Baltimore. The parochial school at Baltimore, built in 1832 at the expense of Lord Carbery, 
is a large and handsome structure, comprising a centre and two wings, the former containing the master's 
apartments and the latter the male and female schools; in this, and in another school to which a sum of £4 
per ann. is contributed by the Catholic inhabitants, for the education of the poor children, about 200 children 
are instructed. The extensive and picturesque ruins of Baltimore castle still remain. The remains of the 
church are picturesquely situated on the shore of a small bay opposite the island of Ringa-Roga. 

FARRAHY, a parish, in the barony of FERMOY, county of CORK, and province of MUNSTER, 6 miles 
(W.) from Mitchelstown, on the road to Doneraile; containing 2085 inhabitants. It comprises 4770 statute 
acres, as applotted under the tithe act, and valued at £3475 per annum. The land is of medium quality and 
chiefly under tillage; and the state of agriculture is gradually improving. There is a considerable portion of 
mountain pasture in the north of the parish, where it borders on the county of Limerick, from which it is 
separated by part of the range called the Galtees. Two small oatmeal-mills are worked by streams from these 
mountains, at the foot of which is situated Bowenscourt, the seat of H. C. Bowen, Esq. It is a rectory, in the 
diocese of Cloyne, forming the corps of the deanery of Cloyne, in the patronage of the Crown: the tithes 
amount to £410. The glebe-house was erected by aid of a gift of £100 and a loan of £900, in 1819, from the 
late Board of First Fruits, and has a glebe attached of about 25 statute acres. The church, a plain building 
with a tower surmounted by a small wooden spire, is now undergoing a thorough repair, for which purpose 
the Ecclesiastical Commissioners have recently made a grant of £317. About 12 children are instructed in a 
Sunday school, under the superintendence of the Protestant clergyman. 


